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The Montour Railroad Company (designated here as "MTR" after the three-letter 

reporting marks by which the Montour's rail cars were universally identified) was 

organized on September 10, 1877 as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Imperial Coal 

Company.  An initial five miles of rail line extended from a Pittsburgh and Lake Erie 

Railroad ("P&LERR") connection at Montour Junction, located east of Coraopolis on the 

south bank of the Ohio River near the mouth of Montour Run, to the fledgling mining 

town of Guy's Mills.  A second firm, the North Fayette Railroad Company, was 

incorporated on August 1, 1878, to build five additional miles from Guy's Mills to Valley 

Church. 
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Line Extended by Merger 

 

While the line was still under construction, these companies merged on September 10, 

1878, taking the Montour name.  At this time the Imperial Coal Company controlled the 

MTR, and the primary purpose of the MTR would be to furnish facilities for the 

marketing of 1,184 acres of bituminous coal that it owned.  The line would also serve 

what was expected to become a rich farming district.  The line was soon extended two 

more miles through Montour City (later renamed Imperial) and on to North Star.  By late 

1879 employment at the Imperial Coal Company, including its MTR and coke oven 

operations, totaled 400 persons. 
2 
* 

 

The first shipments of coal on the MTR averaged 800 to 1,000 tons daily and were 

delivered initially to barges on the Ohio River in July, 1879, but by October of that year, 

shipments were being directed instead to the P&LERR at Montour Junction.  Much of the 

coal mined along the MTR was processed in 102 beehive coke ovens located a mile south 

of Montour Junction. 
3
  Passenger service on the MTR began in October, 1879, with 15 

stations serviced along its 12-mile length.  The MTR also began carrying U.S. Mail at 

that time. 
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In 1899-1900 a large shop facility was constructed adjacent to the railroad at Montour 

Junction in Coraopolis, housing all the necessary equipment for a self-contained railroad 

shop.  Included were car repair shops, engine house, blacksmith shop, storage tracks, and 

___________________ 

 

* Reference 2 served as a source for much of the information presented here.  The author, 

Gene P. Schaeffer, was employed as a Montour Railroad dispatcher beginning in 1978.  

Mr. Schaeffer assembled the Reference 2 publication, partly from record files and other 

materials he was able to preserve when operations ceased on the railroad.   
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a natural gas well.  Locomotives would be scheduled for inspections and repairs in 

compliance with strict rules set forth by the Interstate Commerce Commission. 

 

Pittsburgh Coal Company Organized 

 

In 1899 the Pittsburgh Coal Company (initially spelled "Pittsburg") was formed to 

purchase about 140 coal mining companies which owned 70,000 acres of bituminous coal 

located in Allegheny, Fayette, Washington, and Westmoreland Counties of southwestern 

Pennsylvania.  The Imperial Coal Company was one of the companies included in this 

acquisition.  The Pittsburgh district at this time was consuming about 14,000,000 tons of 

bituminous coal per year. 
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 Bituminous was well-suited by its 60-80% carbon content to 

fulfill energy needs as diverse as heating buildings, fueling locomotives, and making 

steel.**
 

 

Competition between companies had reduced the price of coal to below the cost of 

production in many cases.  Price agreements among companies were unsuccessful, and it 

was finally determined that the only way to make the coal business profitable would be to 

combine them into one company.
  
The new corporation was organized under the laws of 

New Jersey, but the titles to the coal properties and real estate were held in a corporation 

organized under the laws of Pennsylvania, all of the stock of which was owned by the 

Pittsburgh Coal Company. The amount of capital issued was $32,000,000 in 7 percent 

cumulative preferred stock and $32,000,000 in common stock. The new company began 

operations in a most fortunate time, when the demand for coal at once - or shortly after its 

organization - exceeded supply, and its success during the first year of its organization 

was most satisfactory.  The Company was to remain unchanged until 1945, when a 

merger with the Consolidation Coal Company would occur. 
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Extension to the South and East 

 

As soon as the best and most accessible coal deposits in the Imperial area had been 

depleted, the MTR's owners began to plan an extension to as-yet untapped reserves.  A 

short distance to the south was an area of coal lands consisting of roughly 100,000 acres 

of the Pittsburgh Coal Seam.  A new subsidiary, the North Star & Mifflin Railroad 

Company, was organized on October 28, 1912, to build a 34-mile extension of the MTR 

from Imperial in a gradual arc around Pittsburgh to the south and east.  This extension 

would eventually connect with Carnegie Steel's Union Railroad at Mifflin Junction, 

located near the Pleasant Hills/West Mifflin municipal boundary, and thence with the 

Bessemer & Lake Erie Railroad ("B&LERR"). 
1 

 

Operations on this new extension began on February 1, 1915 after the North Star and 

Mifflin Railroad had been merged into the Montour Railroad Company.  A six-mile MTR 

________________________ 

 

**  Carloads of coal became designated as "met" or "steam", depending on whether the 

end use was to be steel-making or power generation/heating.  Coal to be used in steel-

making was required to have relatively low phosphorus content. 
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branch was also built from a junction near Library easterly to the village of Snowden.  

Upon the construction of this 40 mile addition of new lines, the MTR reached new 

connections with other railroads.  In addition to the P&LERR connection at Coraopolis 

and the B&LERR connection at Mifflin Junction, the line now interchanged with the 

Panhandle Division of the Pennsylvania Railroad ("PRR") near McDonald; with the 

Pittsburgh and West Virginia Railroad at Southview; with the PRR's Washington Branch 

at Hills Station; and with both the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad and the PRR's Peters Creek 

Branch at Snowden. 
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By 1916 the Pittsburgh Coal Company held complete control of the MTR.  Other firms 

constructing mining operations that would be serviced by the new extension included the 

Henderson Coal Company and the National Mining Company.  By 1921, main track 

switches were installed for mining operations at Southview, Cowden, Hills Station, 

McAdams, Hendersonville, and Bishop in Washington County, and Coverdale (later 

named Bethel Park) in Allegheny County. 
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Four tunnels -- the Enlow, National, Peacock, and Greers tunnels -- were originally bored 

to reduce the required amount of excavation.  At 623 feet, the curving National Tunnel 

was the longest in length.  However, the Peacock Tunnel had to be "daylighted" after 

construction owing to the instability of the terrain.  Many steel bridges were built to 

maintain grade separation from vehicular traffic.  The most impressive of these, 

measuring 962 feet, was located near McDonald and crossed streams, highways, and 

railroads, including the Chartiers Branch of the Panhandle Division of the PRR. 
2
 

 

Branches Added 

 

Although the 45-milemain line of the Montour was completed in 1914, two additional 

branches were added in the next decade and a half.  A short spur from Muse Junction to 

Muse was begun in October, 1921 to serve United States Steel's National 3 mine (initially 

designated National Mining Company #3).  National #3 was closed in December, 1953.  

Another branch was begun at Gilmore Junction in 1922 with an initial 2,200 feet of 

railroad to reach the Gilmore Coal Company's Morris Mine.  In 1927 a four-mile 

extension was added, bringing the MTR to the village of Westland to serve the Pittsburgh 

Coal Company's new Westland #1 Mine.  Westland #1 was worked continuously until 

December 15, 1981, when it was closed.  A second mine, Westland #2, was opened at 

that time with its entry located about a half-mile north of #1. 
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Wartime, with its huge energy demands, had large impacts on the affairs of the MTR.  

During World War I, control was taken over by the Federal Government: 
2
 

 

"During 1916, with the involvement of the United States in the war in Europe, the 

Montour Railroad was called upon by the Federal Government to handle 

additional traffic.  On December 26, 1917, United States President Woodrow 

Wilson proclaimed possession and control of the nation's railroads, naming 

Secretary of the Treasury, William G. McAdoo the Director General of the 

Nation's Railroads effective 12 noon, December 28, 1917. 
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"Sometime during April, 1918, the Montour Railroad made a request to the 

Federal Government to be released from Federal control citing the following 

reasons:  a concern for the lack of continued development and the threat of being 

managed by other railroads such as the P&LE.  Although this is speculation, the 

Montour Railroad was released from Government control on June 24, 1918." 

 

During the 1920's, the MTR began work on relocating its original 1879 standard-gauge 

main track along Montour Run to reduce the many sharp curves that in some places 

reached 16 degrees of curvature.  Beginning at Montour Junction and extending six miles 

east to Scott Station, the original main line was reconstructed with many relocations of 

Montour Run.  Several new steel and concrete bridges were erected.  A second phase 

from Cliff Mine Station to Imperial included the addition of the Enlow Tunnel (earlier 

designated as the Jeffreytown Tunnel) near Imperial.  The main track in Imperial was 

also raised to enable it to cross above U.S. Highway 30, eliminating a high-accident-rate 

grade crossing. 
2
 

 

Champion Preparation Plant 

 

Built on the Allegheny/Washington County border in 1928 and designed to prepare 

nearly 13,000 tons of bituminous coal per day, the Champion Preparation Plant was to 

serve as a central location for the processing of coal produced at mines on the MTR.  As 

described in Reference 2: 

 

"Unprepared coal was referred to as Green Coal or Stop Off Coal.  Trains of 

Green Coal would be delivered to Pittsburgh Coal Company tracks at 

Champion.....Inside the Champion Preparation Plant shakers, screens, picking 

tables, and crushers prepared coal for customer orders.  A large system of 

conveyors was used to move coal to different areas of the plant for preparation." 

 

The Champion Preparation Plant was the heart of coal operations on the MTR.  The scale of the 

nation's energy consumption and the magnitude of operations at Champion are demon-

strated by the following account in the McDonald Record Outlook by reporter Mary 

Vierling: 
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"In June of 1945, Champion 1 broke records, producing 300,070 tons of coal for the 

month.  Thirty thousand tons went for locomotive fuel, 60,000 tons went to 

industries making guns, ships, and critical civilian materials; 15,000 went for 

heating homes and buildings; and 195,000 tons went to the Great Lakes, to be 

shipped to the Midwest and Canada for domestic and industrial use." 

 
Some of the power-generation customers who used coal from the Champion plant as their prime 

energy source included Niagara Mohawk, Eastman Kodak, Rochester Gas & Electric, and New 

York State Electric & Gas.  The Champion plant survived until November, 1983. 
2
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Changes in Service and Rolling Stock 

 

Passenger service had initially been provided on the MTR but ended in 1927.  Over 

500,000 passenger-miles were recorded in 1924, but less than one-fourth of that much 

passenger traffic was carried two years later.  
1
For a few years the MTR shipped dairy 

products from various farms located along the line and transferred them to the P&LERR 

at Montour Junction.  This business was handled by the passenger crews.  During its 

lifetime the MTR carried limited amounts of other freight besides coal, including lumber, 

pharmaceuticals, furniture, chemicals and solvents, automobiles, and tires. 
2
 

 

The MTR eliminated the last of its overall roster of 41 steam locomotives in 1952, 

replacing them with a fleet of 15 diesel units, mostly General Motors Electro-Motive 

Division SW-9's, that served the railroad until its abandonment.  
2
In mid-1962 the MTR 

had in service 1,323 freight cars; nearly all were hopper cars for coal.  On any given day 

many of these cars were located on the lines of other railroads with which the MTR 

interchanged. 
1
 

 

Slow Decline to the End 

 

By the 1950s, most of the coal mines serviced by the railroad had been worked out, and 

the MTR underwent a slow decline.  Consolidation Coal Company sold the MTR in 

December of 1946: 
8
 

 

"The Pittsburgh Consolidated Coal Company has removed itself from the railroad 

business by selling its three lines -- the Montour, the Youngstown & Southern, 

and a private line from Smith's Ferry, Pa., to Negley, O. -- to the Pennsylvania 

Railroad and the Pittsburgh & Lake Erie for $9 ¼ million." 

 

This ownership remained unchanged until April of 1975, when the bankrupt Penn Central 

Railroad sold the MTR to the P&LE (giving the P&LERR 100% ownership) as it 

divested property in conjunction with the creation of Conrail.  From the day the P&LERR 

gained control, traffic on the eastern end of the system began to decline, and the closing 

of Montour #10 Mine in Library in 1977 hastened that process.  Abandonment occurred 

in phases or sections; the MTR east of Brightwood Road in Bethel Park was abandoned 

in 1979.
2
 

 

The flooding of Montour #4 Mine at Hills Station in 1980 rendered the track east of 

Gilmore Junction of no use.  The main line from Gilmore Junction west to Montour 

Junction at Coraopolis was rebuilt in 1980 and 1981.  Although operations continued to 

Westland Mine, the MTR sold off most of its diesel fleet in 1981 and began to dispose of 

its freight car fleet as well. 
5
 

 

The Westland Mine, MTR's last remaining customer, closed in late 1983.  In 1984 an 

application for abandonment of the remaining 26 miles of Montour Railroad was filed 

with the Interstate Commerce Commission.  The last crew was called at the Montour 
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Junction headquarters on November 1, 1984 to deliver the last cars and locomotive to the 

P&LERR for final disposition.  The MTR was down to just 23 miles of track between 

Montour Junction and Gilmore Junction when operations finally ceased in 1984 with the 

closing of the Westland Coal Mine.  Removal of this remaining track took place during 

1984. 
9
 

 

Historic Preservation 

 

In 1991 large portions of the abandoned MTR right of way were acquired by the non-

profit Montour Trail Council to launch a 50-mile recreational trail project, which is 

nearing completion.  
5
In 1992 the Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission 

issued a letter declaring the State Historic Preservation Officer's opinion that the Montour 

Railroad in Allegheny and Washington Counties is eligible for listing in the National 

Register of Historic Places.  
10

An application for the National Register listing has not as 

yet been submitted, but this application is likely to become a near-term project of the 

Montour Railroad Historical Society, a newly formed non-profit organization that is 

affiliated with the Montour Trail Council. 
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Fig. 1 - Map of the Montour Railroad as of January 1930 
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Fig. 2 - Montour Railroad History, Wikipedia Entry 
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Fig. 3 - List of Stations from Timetable 
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Fig. 4 - "Coal Goes to War:" WWII Operations at Champion Preparation Plant 
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Fig. 5 - Tabulation of Ton-Miles Carried by Year 
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Fig. 6 - Montour Railroad Coal Train Emerges from National Tunnel. 
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Caption by photographer Gene Schaeffer:  "Forty-eight hundred horses housed in the V-

12's under the hoods of SW9's 74/76/79/80 shout out of the west portal of National 

Tunnel with 44 loads of coal after climbing the 1.5 percent ruling grade out of Montour 

No. 4 mine at Cecil, Pa., April 11, 1980, on the Montour Railroad.  Hard hit by recession, 

the Pittsburgh & Lake Erie subsidiary is now semi-dormant, its SW's scattered to the 

winds, and its as-needed service provided by the parent's SW1500's." 
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Fig. 7 - Reprint of McDonald Record Outlook Article by Mary Vierling 
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Fig. 8 - Letter Regarding Eligibility of the Montour Railroad for Listing in the 

National Register of Historic Places 
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